**HAL WAYNE DEATON  
VS.  
MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY**

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Hal Wayne Deaton - Plaintiff and Appellant  
The Law Firm of Abraham & Rideout - Attorneys for Appellant  
Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company - Defendant and Appellee  
The Law Firm of Copeland Cook Taylor and Bush - Attorneys for Appellee



DANIEL L. EGGER, M

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The following issues shall be addressed in this appeal:

1. Whether the decisions in *Meyers*<sup>1</sup> and *Alley*<sup>2</sup> should be applied retroactively when the result would allow the Appellee to be unjustly enriched?
2. Whether the decisions in *Meyers* and *Alley* should be applied retroactively when retroactive application would cause serious disruption of the administration of justice and where the prior rule was not infected by a serious absence of fundamental fairness?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 31, 2006, the Appellee, Mississippi Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company, (hereinafter "Farm Bureau") filed its Complaint for Declaratory Judgment in the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi. In the Complaint, the Appellee petitioned the court to determine the limits of liability under the uninsured motorist provisions of a 31-vehicle fleet policy issued to the Appellant's employer, Gregory L. Carr.

On May 3, 2007, the court ordered that Appellee was entitled to summary and declaratory judgement finding that the policy's uninsured motorist coverage could not be stacked for a Class II driver and that coverage for the Appellant, Hal Wayne Deaton, was limited to \$10,000.00. The

---

<sup>1</sup> *Meyers v. American States Insurance Company*, 914 So 2d 669 (Miss. 2005).

<sup>2</sup> *Alley v. Northern Ins. Co.*, 926 So.2d 906 (Miss. 2006).

retroactively.

Thereafter, the Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal appealing the May 3, 2007, Declaratory and Summary Judgement.

III.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Hal Wayne Deaton was injured on May 25, 2005, by an uninsured motorist while in the scope and course of his employment.<sup>3</sup> The vehicle he was operating was owned by his employer Gregory L. Carr and was insured by a Farm Bureau policy issued on March 3, 2005.<sup>4</sup> The vehicle was one of a fleet of 31 vehicles covered under this policy.<sup>5</sup> As an employee unnamed in the policy, Deaton is classified as a Class II driver. Defendant sustained serious injuries as a result of the accident including a broken shoulder, broken ribs, crushing fractures to both legs, and the eventual amputation of his right leg.<sup>6</sup>

When the Appellant's accident occurred, this court had not definitively overruled a series of cases allowing Class II drivers to stack multiple uninsured motorist coverages from the same policy. However, on June 9, 2005, the Supreme Court handed down its ruling in *Meyers v. American States* holding that Class II drivers cannot stack uninsured policy limits and specifically overruled previous cases stating otherwise. Subsequent decisions have affirmed this holding.

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellee's original Complaint for Declaratory Judgement. (Record Excerpt Tab #2, page 2).

<sup>4</sup> *Id.*

<sup>5</sup> *Id.* at 3.

<sup>6</sup> *Id.*

standard of review is de novo.<sup>7</sup>

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant does not dispute that Class II Insureds cannot currently stack multiple UM coverages from the same policy. However, the retroactive application of these decisions, which were handed down after the Appellant's accident, has created an inequitable result for the following two reasons.

First, the decisions, when applied retroactively, allow Farm Bureau to be unjustly enriched by benefitting from insurance rates calculated on previously-existing liability that Class II insureds could stack UM coverage. Because the rules definitively changed after the contract had been entered into and the accident had occurred, Farm Bureau has received a windfall. The company has contracted for rates to cover significantly greater pre-*Meyers* liability while benefitting by only paying this claim on the lesser post-*Meyers* liability.

Second, retroactive application of these decisions causes disruption of the administration of justice. The retroactive application of the *Meyers* decision has dramatically changed the Appellant's means of recovery and has left Appellant no alternate means to plan for supplementary coverage or just recovery.

As a result, this Court should reverse the trial court's summary and declaratory judgment.

---

<sup>7</sup> *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So.2d 951, 956 (Miss.2007).

Until recently, the Supreme Court has, through the Mississippi Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Law, allowed intra-policy stacking of the host vehicle's uninsured motorist benefits for Class II insureds<sup>8</sup>. In 2003, this Court departed from a long line of decisions supporting Class II UM coverage stacking. This about-face in *Mascarella v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*<sup>9</sup> created uncertainty as to the state of Mississippi jurisprudence on this point.<sup>10</sup> By inserting the phrase “[u]nder these facts” at the end of its decision, combined with the failure to overrule its previous decisions, the Court suggested a willingness to find a fact pattern under which its previous decisions were still valid law.<sup>11</sup>

Most importantly, as this Court noted in *Meyers*,<sup>12</sup> *Mascarella* had not expressly overruled the cases contrary to its holding. It wasn't until *Meyers* was handed down that this Court explicitly overruled the previous decisions which held that Class II insureds could stack.

---

8

*Meyers v. American States Ins. Co.*, 914 So.2d 669, 676 FN6 (Miss.,2005). (citing previous cases holding that Class II insureds can stack coverages including: *Glennon v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 812 So.2d 927, 931-33 (Miss.2002); *McDaniel v. Shacklee United States, Inc.*, 807 So.2d 393, 395-99 (Miss.2001); *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Davis*, 613 So.2d 1179, 1182 (Miss.1992); *Thiac v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 569 So.2d 1217, 1220-21 (Miss.1990); *Harris v. Magee*, 573 So.2d 646, 654-55 (Miss.1990); *Cossitt v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 551 So.2d 879, 883-84 (Miss.1989); *Wickline v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 530 So.2d 708, 714-15 (Miss.1988); *Brown v. Md. Cas. Co.*, 521 So.2d 854, 855-56 (Miss.1987)).

<sup>9</sup> *Mascarella v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co.*, 833 So.2d 575 (Miss.2003).

<sup>10</sup> *Meyers v. American States Ins. Co.*, 914 So.2d 669, 676 FN6 (Miss. 2005).

<sup>11</sup>

Jeremy Vanderloo, Note, *Insurance without Assurance: Stacking Uninsured/Underinsured Motorist Coverage under Commercial Fleet Policies after Mascarella v. United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company*, 23 Miss. C.L.Rev. 157, 177-78 (2004).

<sup>12</sup>*Meyers*, 914 So.2d at 675.

insureds could stack coverages may still have been in effect.

This Court has noted that the insurance industry carefully writes its contract to preclude stacking of UM coverage, noting that insurance policies are prepared by the companies' experts, who are highly technical in their phraseology, complicated and voluminous and in their numerous conditions and stipulations furnishing what may be veritable traps for the unwary.<sup>13</sup> The court also noted that "when the entire insurance industry writes its policies to preclude stacking of UM coverage, attempting to circumvent case law and defeat public policy, the insured is denied any choice whatsoever".<sup>14</sup>

Farm Bureau is a savvy insurance company. It knew at the time the contract was signed that the decisions that Class II drivers could stack UM coverage had not been overturned. As a result, a savvy insurance company would certainly have calculated its rates based upon the potential liability of 31 stacked coverages. The retroactive application of the *Meyers* decision gives the Appellee an unearned windfall by erasing the potential liability of 30 of those coverages while allowing Farm Bureau to keep the benefits of the higher rates charged on these policies.

Good conscience and equity dictate that Farm Bureau was unjustly enriched by the retroactive application of the *Meyers* decision. As noted in *U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co. v. Ferguson*, "courts, while zealous to uphold legal contracts, should not sacrifice the spirit to the

---

<sup>13</sup>

*U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co. v. Ferguson*, 698 So.2d 77, 80 (Miss. 1997), *declined to follow by, Mascarella v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, (S.D.Miss. Nov 17, 1999).

<sup>14</sup> *Id.*

when retroactive application would cause serious disruption of the administration of justice and where the prior rule was not infected by a serious absence of fundamental fairness.

The general rule is that decisions are presumed to have retroactive effect unless otherwise specified.<sup>16</sup> However, our courts have created a very limited exclusion to the retroactive application of the general rules where “retroactive enforcement would cause serious disruption of the administration of justice and where the prior rule was not infected by a serious absence of fundamental fairness.”<sup>17</sup>

The retroactive application of the holdings in *Meyers* and *Alley* causes a serious disruption in the administration of justice for the Appellant in regard to his ability to recover for his significant and life-changing injuries. The Appellant’s employer contracted for coverage under the rules established before *Meyers*. He agreed to pay for an insurance policy that changed dramatically due to the retroactive application of *Meyers*. Likewise, the Appellant prepared his personal insurance plans based on the rules at that time. He had no possible way to know that the rules would change retroactively and eliminate any opportunity for him to plan for or provide better insurance for himself.

As a rule, judicial decisions apply retroactively. In fact, a legal system based on precedent has a built-in presumption of retroactivity.<sup>18</sup> However, when the application of

---

<sup>15</sup> *Ferguson*, 698 So.2d at 80.

<sup>16</sup> *Morgan v. State*, 703 So.2d 832, 839 (Miss.1997).

<sup>17</sup> *Graves v. State*, 761 So.2d 950, 953-954 (Miss.App.,2000).

<sup>18</sup> *Solem v. Stumes*, 465 U.S. 638, 642, 104 S.Ct. 1338, 1341, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984).

Finally, as indicated by the long line of well-reasoned decisions in favor of Class II stacking prior to *Meyers*, the prior rule was not infected by a serious absence of fundamental fairness. As a result, this court should find that this matter falls under the limited exception to the retroactive application of the general rules.

VII.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above and foregoing reasons, the summary and declaratory judgment rendered in the lower court must be reversed, or in the alternative, the matter must be reversed and remanded for discovery and trial.

the Brief for Appellant, by depositing the original and three copies of the same in UPS overnight delivery to the Mississippi Supreme Court, Gartin Justice Building, 450 High Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39201. I do hereby further certify that I have I have delivered a copy of the same by UPS overnight delivery to Dale G. Russell, Esq., Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, 1062 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 200, Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158.