HAL WAYNE DEATON

AFFELLANI

VS.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU INSURANCE CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

DALE G. RUSSELL

ELLEN P. ROBB (
COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A.

Post Office Box 6020

Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158

Telephone: (601) 856-7200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU CASUALTY

INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

VS.

MISSISSIPPI FARM BUREAU INSURANCE CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. Standard of Review
II. The Circuit Court was correct in its determination that Meyers and Alley apply retroactively because, consistent with well-established Mississippi law, neither opinion contained a statement from the Supreme Court that the ruling is prospective.
III. The general allegations that Farm Bureau is unjustly enriched and that Deaton relied the potential to stack his employer's UM coverage should not be considered by this Court
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
ADDENDUM TAB A

Alley v. Northern Ins. Co., 926 So. 2d 906 (Miss. 2006) passim
Cleveland v. Mann, 942 So. 2d 108 (Miss. 2006)
Davis-Everett v. Dale, 926 So. 2d 279 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
MacDonald v. Mississippi Dept. of Transp., 955 So. 2d 355 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Mascarella v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 833 So. 2d 575 (Miss. 2002) 5, 8-10
Meyers v. American States Ins. Co., 914 So. 2d 669 (Miss. 2005) passim
Mississippi Transp. Comm'n v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc., 753 So. 2d 1077 (Miss. 2000)
Morgan v. State, 703 So. 2d 832 (Miss. 1997)
New Bellum Homes, Inc. v. Swain, 806 So. 2d 301 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) 6, 10
Prudential Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Mohrman, 828 F. Supp. 432 (S.D. Miss. 1993) 10, 11
<u>Statutes</u>
MISS. CODE ANN. §83-11-103
Rules
MISSISSIPPI RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 28

!

1. Whether the Circuit Court was correct in its determination that the Mississippi Supreme Court decisions of *Meyers* and *Alley*, that hold Class II insureds cannot stack their employer's uninsured motorist bodily injury coverage limits, should be applied retroactively in accordance with Mississippi law.

Bureau") issued a Comprehensive Automobile Policy to Gregory L. Carr ("Carr") insuring a total of 31 vehicles. For each of the 31 scheduled vehicles, the Farm Bureau policy provided uninsured motorist bodily injury ("UMBI") coverage in the amount of \$10,000 per person/\$20,000 per accident. On May 25, 2005, Appellant Hal Wayne Deaton ("Deaton"), an employee of Carr, was involved and injured in an automobile accident caused by an uninsured motorist. Deaton was in the course and scope of his employment with Carr when the accident occurred, and he was using one of the 31 vehicles insured under the Farm Bureau policy.

Farm Bureau policy and asserted a right to stack (i.e. add together) the UMBI benefits on all 31 of the scheduled vehicles. Farm Bureau filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and moved for Judgment as a Matter of Law that Deaton was not permitted to stack the UMBI coverage limits of his employer's policy.

Following the subject accident, Deaton presented a claim for UMBI benefits under Carr's

The Circuit Court ruled that Deaton was not allowed to stack the UMBI coverage limits of the 30 non-involved vehicles in a Declaratory and Summary Judgment Order dated May 3, 2007 in accordance with the Mississippi Supreme Court's decisions in *Meyers v. American States Ins. Co.*, 914 So. 2d 669 (Miss. 2005) and *Alley v. Northern Ins. Co.*, 926 So. 2d 906 (Miss. 2006). Deaton brings this appeal arguing that *Meyers* and *Alley* should not apply retroactively to him even though

Mississippi's uninsured motorist ("UM") statute defines an uninsured vehicle as "motor vehicle as to which there is no bodily injury liability insurance." MISS. CODE ANN. §83-11-103(c)(i). The uninsured motorist was determined to be at fault in causing the accident.

It is undisputed that at the time of the accident, Deaton was a Class II insured. A Class II insured is "any person who uses, with the consent, expressed or implied, the motor vehicle to which the policy applies." Alley v. Northern Ins. Co., 926 So. 2d 906, 909 (Miss. 2006).

Deaton, a Class II insured, cannot stack UMBI coverage under his employer's policy. Further, the Circuit Court correctly applied the *Meyers* and *Alley* decisions which held that Class II insureds cannot stack UMBI coverage under their employer's policy.

Deaton contends that the holdings of Meyers and Alley should not apply to his claim which arose prior to those decisions. In other words, Deaton argues that the holdings in Meyers and Alley cannot be applied retroactively to prevent him from stacking UMBI coverage under his employer's Farm Bureau policy. Deaton's argument is contrary to the well-established rule in Mississippi that, "all judicial decisions apply retroactively unless the Court has specifically stated the ruling is prospective." Cleveland v. Mann, 942 So. 2d 108, 113 (Miss. 2006) (citing Mississippi Transp. Comm'n v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc., 753 So. 2d 1077, 1093 (Miss. 2000) and Morgan v. State, 703 So. 2d 832, 839 (Miss. 1997)). The Meyers and Alley opinions do not contain a statement that the rulings therein were prospective only. In fact, this Court applied its holding in Meyers retroactively to the Class II insured in Alley. Further, the decision of this Court in Mascarella v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 833 So. 2d 575 (Miss. 2002), handed down years prior to Deaton's accident, similarly prevents a Class II insured such as Deaton from stacking UMBI coverage under his employer's policy.

Deaton asserts that the retroactive application of the Meyers and Alley decisions is unfair to him and requests this Court to treat him differently than other Class II insureds in similar situations, including the employee drivers in Meyers and Alley. Deaton's desire to avoid the application of Meyers and Alley as to his claim is inconsistent with the long-standing rule cited in Cleveland v. Mann and further conflicts with the principle that litigants in similar situations should be treated the

enriched and that he relied on the status of the law prior to the *Meyers* decision when he made decisions regarding selection of his personal UM coverage. It is procedurally improper for this Court to consider these new arguments which are not part of the trial court record and which are made for the first time on appeal. *Alley*, 926 So. 2d at 910; *New Bellum Homes*, *Inc. v. Swain*, 806 So. 2d 301, 305 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Since the *Meyers* and *Alley* decisions contained no statements establishing that they were to apply prospectively, the Circuit Court was correct in its decision to grant Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment. RECORD AT 146-47.³

Hereinafter, citations to the record on appeal will be denoted with "R."

In determining whether the trial court properly granted or denied a motion for summary judgment, a de novo review of the record is conducted viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party below. *Meyers*, 914 So. 2d at 673. "[A] circuit court may grant summary judgment 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *MacDonald v. Mississippi Dept. of Transp.*, 955 So. 2d 355, 359-60 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). A fact is material if it "tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties." *Id.* at 360. In the present case, none of the *material* facts were disputed in the proceedings below. Therefore, the Circuit Court was correct to resolve the insurance coverage issue in the declaratory judgment action as a matter of law.

II. The Circuit Court was correct in its determination that *Meyers* and *Alley* apply retroactively because, consistent with well-established Mississippi law, neither opinion contained a statement from the Supreme Court that the ruling is prospective.

Meyers and Alley undisputedly hold that a Class II insured does <u>not</u> have the right to stack an employer's uninsured motorist coverage. However, Deaton argues that Meyers and Alley should not be retroactively applied to his claim since the accident giving rise to his claim occurred prior to those decisions.

It is well established under Mississippi law that judicial decisions apply retroactively in the absence of a specific statement from the Court that the ruling is prospective. Cleveland, 942 So. 2d at 113 (stating "all judicial decisions apply retroactively unless the Court has specifically stated the ruling is prospective"). The Meyers and Alley opinions do not contain a statement

In Alley, Darrell Alley was involved in an automobile accident on December 12, 2002 while in the course and scope of his employment with Hancock County. Alley, 926 So. 2d at 907-08; See also Appellee's Brief at *3, Alley v. Northern Ins. Co., 2005 WL 4014710, 926 So. 2d 906 (Miss. 2006) (No. 05-CA-00481) (attached hereto as Addendum A). A Complaint was filed on August 28, 2003. Appellee's Brief at *3, Alley, (No. 05-CA-00481). The other driver had automobile liability insurance in the amount of \$100,000.⁴ Alley, 926 So. 2d at 907. Hancock County had a policy covering 109 vehicles with limits of \$25,000 per vehicle for UM coverage. Id. Darrell Alley contended that his injuries exceeded the \$100,000 of liability insurance and sought to stack Hancock County's UM coverage. Id. Hancock County's insurer argued that, under Mascarella, Darrell Alley was not allowed to stack the UM coverage for all 109 vehicles. Id. The Alley Court relied on both Meyers and Mascarella in its ruling that "Alley may not stack Hancock County's uninsured motorist coverage." Id. at 909. Darrell Alley's accident (December 12, 2002) was nearly two and one half years prior to the Meyers decision (June 9, 2005). The Complaint in Alley was filed on August 28, 2003, almost two years prior to the Meyers decision. Nonetheless, the Supreme Court clearly applied Meyers retroactively as to Darrell Alley.

It is unreasonable for Deaton to argue that this Court's holding in *Meyers* should not be applied to him when it has already been applied to the Class II insured in *Alley*. Further, Deaton's attempt to prevent the application of *Meyers* and *Alley* to his claim is inconsistent with the principle

Darrell Alley had no personal UM coverage. *Alley*, 926 So. 2d at 907. Deaton had personal UM coverage through Allstate on four vehicles each having limits of \$10,000 per person/\$20,000 per accident in addition to the \$10,000 in UMBI coverage available on the employer vehicle Deaton was using at the time of his accident. R. AT 4; 37.

component of stare decisis and the rule of law generally and this should not be allowed.

The record here proves that the trial court properly considered the application of prior decisional law to Deaton's claim when it noted as follows:

Class II insureds, of which Deaton is one, cannot stack an employer's uninsured motorist coverage unless the employer has specifically contracted to allow it . . . The rulings in [Meyers and Alley] are retroactive. "Decisions of this Court should be presumed to have retroactive effect unless otherwise specified. When this Court has held a ruling to apply to cases tried subsequent to an opinion, we have specifically stated that the ruling is prospective in nature." Morgan v. State, 703 So. 2d 832 (Miss. 1997). Since [Meyers] and Alley make no such pronouncement, their application is retroactive.

R. AT 147.

Further, Deaton's argument that the retroactive application of the *Meyers* and *Alley* decisions causes him a disruption of the administration of justice fails to recognize that both *Meyers* and *Alley* relied on the Court's holding in the 2002 *Mascarella* decision. *Mascarella* was decided years prior to Deaton's accident and was a departure from prior appellate decisions which allowed Class II stacking.⁵ In *Mascarella*, the Court decided Class II insureds were allowed to stack their personal

Deaton's argument that the retroactive application of *Meyers* and *Alley* would cause a "serious disruption in the administration of justice for the Appellant" is a principle applied in the context of criminal law:

This Court has followed the United States Supreme Court's general rule of retroactivity, applying decisions in **criminal** cases retroactively except in cases "where retroactive enforcement would cause serious disruption of the administration of justice and where the prior rule was not infected by a serious absence of fundamental fairness."

However, the Court in *Meyers* took the opportunity to explain the implication of *Mascarella* and specifically overruled prior decisions allowing a Class II insured to stack their employer's UM coverage. *Meyers*, 914 So. 2d at 675.

The Circuit Court was correct in its determination that the *Meyers* and *Alley* decisions apply retroactively and its Declaratory and Summary Judgment Order should be affirmed.

III. The general allegations that Farm Bureau is unjustly enriched and that Deaton relied on the potential to stack his employer's UM coverage should not be considered by this Court.

Deaton makes a general allegation that the retroactive application of *Meyers* and *Alley* allows Farm Bureau to become unjustly enriched. SEE BRIEF OF APPELLANT AT ISSUE I. Deaton also makes a general allegation that he relied on the status of the law prior to the *Meyers* opinion when he decided his personal UM insurance needs. *Id.* AT ISSUE II. These mere general allegations are presented for the first time on appeal and are not sufficient to withstand summary judgment. *See Alley*, 926 So. 2d at 910; *New Bellum Homes*, 806 So. 2d at 305 (stating law is well settled in Mississippi that issues cannot be presented for the first time on appeal); *see also Prudential Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Mohrman*, 828 F. Supp. 432 (S.D. Miss. 1993) (stating mere general allegations are not sufficient to withstand summary judgment). Deaton is procedurally barred from presenting these arguments for the first time on appeal and this Court should not consider them in accordance with *Alley* and *New Bellum Homes*.

Farm Bureau maintains that this Court should not consider these new arguments. Nevertheless, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that supports the argument that the rates for the subject policy were based on the potential that UM coverage for all 31 vehicles could be

employer's policy. In fact, there is no evidence of record indicating that Deaton had knowledge of how many vehicles his employer had insured. Since Deaton makes only mere general allegations and offers absolutely no authority or evidence in support, these arguments cannot withstand summary judgment under *Mohrman* and they further should be considered abandoned by the Court. *See Davis-Everett v. Dale*, 926 So. 2d 279, 281-82 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (stating that the appellant has the duty to provide authority in support of assignments of error and the appellate court considers unsupported issues to be abandoned).

CONCLUSION

There is no dispute as to the legal effect of *Meyers* and *Alley* in preventing stacking of uninsured motorist benefits by a Class II insured under his employer's policy. Neither *Meyers* nor *Alley* contained a statement that their holdings were to apply prospectively. Under Mississippi law, absent such a statement, judicial decisions apply retroactively. Deaton provides no reasonable argument, evidence, or authority that the pronouncements in *Meyers* and *Alley* should not apply here. Accordingly, the Circuit Court of Grenada County was correct in granting the Motion for Summary Judgment. The decision of the trial court should be affirmed.